I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


(1) The Circuit Court erred in concluding that no arbitration agreement existed 

between Atlantic Credit & Finance Special Finance Unit, LLC, Assignee of Synchrony Bank: 

("Atlantic Credit") and Courtney R. Stacy ("Stacy") under Utah law. This assignment of error 

includes the Circuit Court's indication that Atlantic Credit was required to produce a writing 

signed by Stacy in order to render the agreement enfqrceable. 

(2) Despite numerous requests for a ruling, the Circuit Court failed to address 

whether the applicable law for interpreting the agreement was West Virginia or Utah law. 

(3) The Circuit Court erred in "alternatively" finding the arbitration agreement to be 

procedurally unconscionable. Specifically, ~le Circuit Court erred by relying upon outdated and 

overturned case law in holding the arbitration agreement was unconscionable. Additionally, the 

Circuit Court analyzed the issue of unconscionability under West Virginia law, despite the 

agreement being governed by Utah law. However, the Circuit Court failed to explain how, why 

or if, West Virginia law applied. Finally, the Circuit Court erred in finding the arbitration 

agreement constituted an adhesion contract and/or contained fine print in holding the arbitration 

agreement was procedurally unconscionable. 

(4) The Circuit Court erred in determining the arbitration agreement was 

substantively unconscionable. Specifically, the Circuit Court failed to conduct the proper 

analysis or apply the correct state law in finding the agreement substantively unconscionable. 

(5) Despite numerous requests for a ruling, the Circuit Court erred in failing to render 

an opinion on whether Stacy's claims were within the scope of the arbitration agreement. 



(6) The Circuit Court erred in fmding Atlantic Credit waived its right to compel 

arbitration. Specifically, the Circuit Court failed to apply the appropriate state law or analysis in 

its decision. Additionally, the Circuit Court's order was not supported by the evidence. 

(7) Despite numerous requests for a ruling, the Circuit Court failed to rule on whether 

Stacy could participate in class allegations. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Factual Background 

On. February 4, 2014, a CareCredit account was applied for online in the name of 

Courtney R. Stacy. (App. pp. 365-374). CareCredit is a healthcare credit card that is 

purportedly accepted at over 175,000 providers nationwide and is designed to help individuals 

finance their health, beauty, and wellness needs. See Care Credit User Guide available at 

https;llwww.carecredit.comldownloads/userguide/user-guide.pdf. That same day, Synchrony 

Bank ("Synchrony"), formerly known as GE Capital Retail Bank, approved Stacy's application 

and opened a CareCredit account in his name with the last four digits 3301 (the "Account"). 

(App. pp. 366). On February 10,2014, the credit card for the Account was mailed to Stacy at the 

address he provided on his application in Hanover, West Virginia 24839. (Id.). Enclosed in the 

mailing of the credit card was a copy of the effective credit card agreement ("Contract") that 

governed the Account. (Id.). Synchrony's records show that on February 11,2014, Stacy used 

his credit card for a purchase followed by subsequent purchases. (Id.); (App. p. 327 (wherein 

Stacy admits in discovery that he utilized the Account)). 

The Contract contains an arbitration agreement (the "Arbitration Agreement") under the 

heading "Resolving a Dispute with Arbitration." (App. pp. 375-376). The Arbitration 

Agreement provided Stacy with the opportunity to "opt-out" of the Arbitration Agreement within 
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60 days. ag.). As part of Synchrony's regular activities in the ordinary course of business, 

Synchrony maintains a record of any correspondence received from its customers, including 

requests to reject or opt-out of the Arbitration Agreement. (App. p. 365). There are no records 

demonstrating Stacy exercised his right to reject the "Arbitration Agreement" in the Contract. 

(Id.). More importantly, Stacy has not asserted that he did in fact take any actions to opt-out of 

the Arbitration Agreement or to allege that the Account was the result of fraud or identity theft. 

(See generally App. pp. 8-32 (wherein Stacy never asserted any such allegations)); (see also 

App. pp. 756-822). Synchrony sold the Account to Atlantic Credit on June 20, 2015. (App. pp. 

365-367, 385). When the Account was sold to Atlantic Credit by Synchrony, Atlantic Credit 

received a data file for the Account, which included the account holder's name, address, phone 

number, social security number, charge-off date, and charge-off balance. (App. pp. 389-392). 

The Arbitration Agreement included in the Contract states as follows: 

RESOLVING A DISPUTE WITH ARBITRATION 

PLEASE READ THIS SECTION CAREFULLY. IF YOU DO NOT REJECT IT, TIDS 
SECTION WILL APPLY TO YOUR ACCOUNT, AND MOST DISPUTES BETWEEN 
YOU AND US WILL BE SUBJECT TO INDIVIDUAL ARBITRATION. TIDS MEANS 
THAT: (1) NEITHER A COURT NOR A JURY WILL RESOLVE ANY SUCH 
DISPUTE; (2) YOU WILL NOT BE ABLE TO PARTICIPATE IN A CLASS ACTION 
OR SIMILAR PROCEEDING; (3) LESS INFORMATION WILL BE A V AILABLE; AND 
(4) APPEAL RIGHTS WILL BE LIMITED. 

• What claims are subject to arbitration 

1. If either you or we make a demand for arbitration, you and we must arbitrate any 
dispute or claim between you or any other user of your account, and us, our affiliates, 
agents and/or providers that accept the card or program sponsors if it relates to your 
account, expect as noted below. 

2. We will not require you to arbitrate: (1) any individual case in small claims court or 
your state's equivalent court, so long as it remains an individual case in that court; or (2) 
a case we file to collect money you owe us. However, ifyou respond to the collection 
lawsuit by claiming any wrongdoing, we may require you to arbitrate. 
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3. Notwithstanding any other language in this section, only a court, not an arbitrator, will 
decide disputes about the validity, enforceability, coverage or scope of this section or any 
part thereof (including, without limitation, the next paragraph of this section and/or this 
sentence). However, any dispute or argument that concerns the validity or enforceability 
of the Agreement as a whole is for the arbitrator, not a court, to decide. 

• No Class Actions 

YOU AGREE NOT TO PARTICIPATE IN A CLASS, REPRESENTATIVE OR 
PRIVATE ATTORNEY GENERAL ACTION AGAINST US IN COURT OR 
ARBITRATION. ALSO, YOU MAY NOT BRING CLAIMS AGAINST US ON 
BEHALF OF ANY [ACCOUNTHOLDER] WHO IS NOT [AN 
ACCOUNTHOLDER] ON YOUR ACCOUNT, AND YOU AGREE THAT ONLY 
[ACCOUNTHOLDERS] ON YOUR ACCOUNT MAY BE JOINED IN A SINGLE 
ARBITRATION WITH ANY CLAIM YOU HAVE. 

If a court determines that this paragraph is not fully enforceable, only this sentence will 
remain in force and the remainder will be null and void, and the court's determination 
shall be subject to appeal. This paragraph does not apply to any lawsuit or administrative 
proceeding filed against us by a state or federal government agency even when such 
agency is seeking relief on behalf of a class of borrowers, including you. This means that 
we will not have the right to compel arbitration of any claim brought by such an agency. 

• How to start an arbitration, and the arbitration process 

* 	 * * * * 

3. 	 The arbitration administrator will appoint the arbitrator and will tell the parties what to do 
next. The arbitrator must be a lawyer with at least ten years of legal experience. Once 
appointed, the arbitrator must apply the same law and legal principles, consistent with the 
FAA, that would apply in court, but may use different procedural rules. If the 
administrator's rules conflict with this Agreement, this Agreement will control. 

4. 	 The arbitration will take place by phone or at a reasonably convenient location. If you 
ask us to, we will pay all the fees the administrator or arbitrator charges, as long as we 
believe you are acting in good faith. We will always pay arbitration costs, as well as your 
legal fees and costs, to the extent you prevail on claims you assert against us in an 
arbitration proceeding which you have commenced. 

• Governing Law for Arbitration 

This Arbitration section of your Agreement is governed by the Federal Arbitration Act 
(FAA). Utah law shall apply to the extent state law is relevant under the FAA. The 
arbitrator's decision will be final and binding, except for any appeal right under the FAA. 
Any court with jurisdiction may enter judgment upon the arbitrator's award. 
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• How to reject this section 

You may reject this Arbitration section of your Agreement. If you do that, only a 
court may be used to resolve any dispute or claim. To reject this section, you must 
send us a notice within 60 days after you open your account or we first provided you 
with your right to reject this section. The notice must include your name, address 
and account number, and must be mailed to GE Capital Retail Bank, P.O. Box 
965012, Orlando, FL 32896-5012. This is the only way you can reject this section. 

(App. pp. 375-376) (bold emphasis in originaf) (italics added for emphasis). The Contract also 

contains a provision expressly permitting an assignment such as the one taken by Atlantic Credit: 

Assignment. We may sell, assign or transfer any or all of our rights or duties under this 
Agreement or your account, including our rights to payments. We do not have to give 
you prior notice of such action. You may not sell, assign or transfer any of your rights or 
duties under this Agreement or your account." (Id.). (emphasis in originaf). 

B. Procedural Background 

On December 28, 2015, Atlantic Credit filed suit in the Magistrate Court of Wyoming 

County, West Virginia to collect a past due balance on the Account. The collection suit alleged a 

past due balance of approximately $720.22 with Stacy making the last payment on the Account 

on or about September 17,2014. (App. pp. 1-7). On January 15,2016, Stacy removed Atlantic 
/ 

Credit's collection suit to the Circuit Court for Wyoming County, West Virginia. (App. pp. 8

32). That same day, Stacy filed an Answer and Class Counterclaim. (Id.). Stacy generally 

alleges that Atlantic Credit improperly filed collection suits against West Virginia debtors 

without including specific information detailing the amount of the debts owed in violation of 

West Virginia law. (Id.). He also alleges Atlantic Credit submitted inadequate evidence in those 

lawsuits in an effort to obtain judgments. As such, he asserted claims under West Virginia Code 

§§ 50-4-1, et seq., the West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act, and the doctrines of 

unjust enrichment and negligence. (Id.). 
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On, or about, September 13,2016, and within roughly two weeks of an order compelling 

class discovery, Atlantic Credit filed "Atlantic Credit's Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay 

this Proceeding and Motion to Dismiss Class Allegations" (the "Motion to Arbitrate"). (App. 

pp. 342-510). Atlantic Credit argued that the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"), requires the 

enforcement of arbitration agreements unless such grounds exist at law or equity for the 

revocation of a contract. (Id.). Additionally, Atlantic Credit argued that any interpretation of the 

Arbitration Agreement should be interpreted under Utah law because the Arbitration Agreement 

contains an enforceable choice of law provision and Synchrony was situs-ed in Utah when the 

Arbitration Agreement came into existence. (Id.). Accordingly, Atlantic Credit argued that a 

valid and binding arbitration agreement existed under Utah law. Atlantic also argued that it has 

not waived its right to seek arbitration. (Id.). Finally, Atlantic Credit argued the Arbitration 

Agreement prohibited Stacy's class allegations and requested a dismissal of the class allegations 

with an order to arbitrate the individual claims. (Id.). 

On, or about, February 3, 2017, Stacy filed his "Memorandum ofLaw in Opposition to 

Debt Purchaser's Untimely Motion to Compel Arbitration" (the "Opposition to Arbitration"). 

(App. pp. 756-822). The Opposition to Arbitration argued that Atlantic Credit could not prove 

the existence of an agreement; that the Arbitration Agreement was procedurally and 

substantively unconscionable; that Atlantic Credit had waived any right to compel arbitration; 

and that in determining whether a waiver occurred, the governing law was West Virginia, not 

Utah. (Id.). 

On March 6, 2017, the Circuit Court entered an "Order Denying Debt Purchaser's 

Motion to Compel Arbitration" (the "Order Denying Arbitration"), denying Atlantic Credit's 

Motion to Arbitrate. (App. pp. 845-866). On March 16, 2017, Atlantic Credit filed "Atlantic 
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Credit's Motion to Amend Order Denying Atlantic Credit's Motion to Compel Arbitration" (the 

"Motion to Amend"), pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, 

which argued the Order Denying Arbitration incorrectly relied on outdated case law and made 

findings that were contrary to the evidence. (App. pp. 867-887). Additionally, Atlantic Credit 

argued the Order Denying Arbitration made numerous "alternative" orders, which made it 

difficult to discern exactly what findings of fact and conclusions of law the Court intended to 

enter. (Id.). Finally, Atlantic Credit argued the Order Denying Arbitration failed to address, or 

dispose of, all the issues raised in the Motion to Arbitrate, particularly, whether Utah or West 

Virginia law controlled the outcome of the Circuit Court's decision as well as whether Stacy 

could participate in class allegations. (Id.). 

On May 15, 2016, Stacy filed "Courtney R. Stacy's Response to Debt Purchaser's 

Motion to Amend Order Denying Motion to Compel Arbitration" (the "Opposition to Amend"). 

(App. pp. 888-895). The Opposition to Amend contended that the Order Denying Arbitration 

did not rely on outdated case law and further advanced Stacy's prior arguments regarding the 

nonexistence of an agreement. Specifically, Stacy argued that Atlantic Credit had failed to 

submit any agreement that contained a signature or electronic signature to support the existence 

of an agreement. (Id.). 

On June 12, 2017, the Circuit Court entered an "Order Denying Debt Purchaser's Motion 

to Reconsider Order Denying Motion to Compel Arbitration"} (the "Order Denying 

Amendment"), which denied Atlantic Credit's Motion to Amend. (App. pp. 920-926). The 

Order Denying Amendment found that no contract existed between the parties; that given no 

contract existed there was no reason to address whether Utah law or West Virginia law was 

1 Plaintiffs counsel drafted the order and labeled the same as a "Motion to Reconsider." However, Atlantic Credit's 
motion was a motion to amend, pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. 
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applicable; and that even if Atlantic Credit could establish the existence of a contract that 

Atlantic Credit had "waived" its right to compel arbitration. (Id.). On July 17, 2017, Atlantic 

Credit filed its "Notice of Appeal" with this Court alleging the Circuit Court committed 

reversible error by, inter alia, denying the Motion to Arbitrate and failed to correct that error by 

denying the Motion to Amend. 

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS 

A. A Valid And Enforceable Agreement Exists Between The Parties 

The primary issues to be decided in this appeal are straightforward. Stacy entered into a 

contract whereby Synchrony issued the Account to Stacy which included an arbitration 

provision, governed by Utah law, requiring Stacy to submit any disputes regarding the Account 

to arbitration. (App. pp. 375-376). Once the Account was issued and Stacy was provided a 

written copy of the Contract, Stacy was provided the opportunity to "opt out" of the arbitration 

provision, but failed to take the necessary steps to so "opt out." @.). The Order Denying 

Arbitration, as well as the Order Denying Amendment, found that no contract existed between 

Stacy and Atlantic Credit (as assignee of Synchrony). (App. pp. 845-866, 920-926). The Circuit 

Court's rationale for its finding was that the written agreement was not signed by Stacy (App. pp. 

923-924, 1008-1009). 

However, the FAA does not require that an arbitration agreement be signed to be 

enforceable - only that the agreement be in writing. Golloway v. Santander Consumer USA, 

Inc., 819 F.3d 79, 90 (4th Cir. 2016); see also Ellsworth v. The American Arbitration Assoc., 148 

p .3d 983, 988 (Utah 2006). Atlantic Credit submitted sufficient evidence to illustrate the 

existence of a valid written agreement and Stacy even acknowledged using the Account. (App. 

pp. 327, 365-376, 385, 389-392). 
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Additionally, the Circuit Court held Atlantic Credit was not a party to the Arbitration 

Agreement and, therefore, could not enforce the same. (App. pp. 845-866). This holding goes 

not only against the Arbitration Agreement itself, which specifically permits Synchrony the 

ability to assign its rights; but against basic contract principles, which generally permit the 

assignment of any contractual rights. Smith v. Buege, 182 W.Va. 204, 210, 387 S.E.2d 109, 115

16 (1989) (holding merely an intent to assign rights is all required to effectuate an assignment of 

contractual rights); Sunridge Dev. Corp. v. RB&G Eng'g, Inc., 2010 UT 6, *10,230 P.3d 1000, 

1003-04 (Utah 2010) (holding an assignee holds all the rights ofan assignor). Accordingly, it 

was clear error for the Circuit Court to find that no enforceable contract existed between the 

parties. 

B. The Contract is Governed by Utah Law 

The Circuit Court failed to address whether West Virginia or Utah law governed the 

Contract. (App. pp. 845-866, 920-926). The lower court's basis for neglecting to address the 

choice of law provision is that Atlantic Credit somehow failed to establish the existence of a 

valid contract. (App. pp. 845-866, 920-926). As previously addressed, Atlantic Credit did 

establish the existence of a written agreement between the parties. (App. pp. 327, 365-376, 385, 

389-392). A decision regarding the choice of law could prove relevant to certain contractual 

defenses. Cent. Fla. Invs., Inc. v. Parkwest Assocs., 2002 UT 3, *22-24,40 P.3d 599,608 (2002) 

(outlining the elements of waiver under Utah law which require showing of intent and 

prejudice); but see Parsons v. Halliburton Energy Servs, Syl. Pt. 6, 785 S.E.2d 844, 2016 W.Va. 

Lexis 229 (2016) (indicating a showing ofprejudice is not required to effectuate a waiver). 
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C. The Arbitration Agreement Is Not Procedurally Unconscionable 

In its Order Denying Arbitration, the Circuit Court made an alternative finding, based on 

outdated case law, that the Arbitration Agreement was "procedurally unconscionable." 

Specifically, the Circuit Court relied upon Arnold v. United Companies Lending Corp., 204 

W.Va. 229, 511 S.E. 2d 854, Syl. Pt. 5 (1998) in ruling the arbitration agreement was 

unconscionable. However, the Circuit Court's reliance on Arnold was misplaced for two 

reasons: (1) first and foremost, Utah, not West Virginia, law is applicable; and (2) Arnold was 

specifically overruled by Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. v. Nelson, 230 W.Va. 281, 290, 737 S.E.2d 

550, 560 (W.Va. 2012) (holding the Federal Arbitration Act preempts any law which targets or 

carves out special contract rules for arbitration agreements and specifically overruling Arnold). 

Additionally, the Court erred in fmding the arbitration agreement was presented in fine 

print and/or constituted an adhesion contract. (App. pp. 845-866). These findings are against the 

weight of the evidence because the provisions relevant to the Arbitration Agreement were 

presented in bold, with all capitals or in italics despite various other provisions being set forth in 

normal font. (App. pp. 375-376). Finally, the arbitration agreement does not constitute a 

contract of adhesion because Stacy was given the specific right to "opt out" of the Arbitration 

Agreement and preserve his right to bring suit. See Ryan v. Dan's Food Stores, Inc., 972 P.2d 

395,402, 1998 Utah LEXIS 64, *11 (1998) (holding when opponent has meaningful choice and 

accepts arbitration terms; acceptance is not unconscionable); see e.g., State ex rei. Ocwen Loan 

Servicing, LLC v. Webster, 232 W.Va. 341, 358, 752 S.E.2d 372, 389 (2013); (App. pp. 375

376). Accordingly, the Circuit Court improperly found the arbitration agreement to be 

procedurally unconscionable. , 
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D. The Arbitration Agreement Is Not Substantively Unconscionable 

The Circuit Court improperly determined the Arbitration Agreement was substantively 

unconscionable because it lacked "mutuality of obligation." (App. pp. 845-866). Specifically, 

the Circuit Court held that Atlantic Credit's ability to use a judicial forum while requiring Stacy

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