I. STATKMENT OF THE CASE 


A. Factual Background 

Petitioner1 has :Q..led approximately 600 lawsuits in West Virginia and has never once 

sought to bring its claims in arbitration. App. 730-754.. 1ms is because Petitioner is a debt 

holding entity and the only reason it exists is to purchase debt for pennies on the dollar and then 

sue West Virginians. In short;-Petitioner has been an active, even hy,per,:!-ctive, litigant in West 

Virginia Courts for years as evidence by hundreds of lawsuit. App. 730-754. In the face of a 

consumer finally bringing an adverse claim against it in the same courts it's been so happy to 

.

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

of which are attached hereto as Exhibit 4." However, no "Stacy Account Information" was 

referred to or referenced in ~e bill of sale. In the pages following the bill of sale, documents are 

provided but it is not clear what those documents are or where they came from. Anderson's 

request that the reader "see also Stacy Account information extracted from Synchrony data file" 

is unhelpful and cryptic. No "data file" is referred to in the bill of sale. 

Without the ''Notification Files" or the "Forward Flow Receivables Purchase 

Agreement," Anderson has failed to prove through any competent means that an_ account 
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belonging to Mr. Stacy was ever sold to Petitioner. Something was sold from Synchrony Bank to 

"Atlantic Credit & Finance Special Finance Unit, LLC," on July 8, 2014, but what was sold is 

unknown as Anderson does not clarify and no other referenced documents are attached. 

b. 	 Likewise, Petitioner has failed to Prove It Purchased Anything More From 
Synchrony Other than the Right to Collect Receivables 

In reviewing the bill of sale between Synchrony and Atlantic Credit & Finance Special 

Finance Unit, LLC, it becomes clear that Atlantic Credit & Finance Special Finance Unit, LLC, 

only purchased the right to collect alleged debts and nothing more. When interpreting contract 

language, West Virginia courts give substantial deference to the plain language contained in the 

contract. "Where the terms of a contract are clear and unambiguous, they must be applied and 

not construed. SyL pt. 2, Orteza v. Monongalia County Gen. Hasp., 173 W.Va. 461, 318 S.E.2d 

40 (1984)" SyL pt. 2 Bass v. Coltelli-Rose, 207 W. Va. 730, 536 S.E.2d 494 (2000). "'It is the 

safest and best mode of construction to give words, free from ambiguity, their plain and ordinary 

meaning.' Williams v. South Penn Oil Co., 52 W.Va. 181,43 S.E. 214 (1903), Syllabus Point 4. 

SyL pt. 3, Bennett v. Dove, 166 W.Va. 772, 774, 277 S.E.2d 617,619 (1981)." SyL Pt. 3, Bass v. 

Coltelli-Rose, 207 W. Va. 730, 731, 536 S.E.2d 494,495 (2000). 

Here, the bill of s~e only states that Synchrony has sold to Atlantic Credit & Finance 

Special Finance Unit, LLC, "the Receivables as set forth in the Notification Files." Black's Law 

Dictionary defines "receivable" three ways: 1. Capable of being admitted or accepted 

<receivable evidence>. 2. Awaiting receipt of payment <accounts receivable>. 3. Subject to a 

call for payment <a note receivable>. RECEIVABLE, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). 

No matter which definition is applied to the bill of sale, it's clear that'the purchaser, Petitioner 

Atlantic Credit & Finance Special Finance Unit, LLC, bought nothing more than the right to 

collect debts contained in some unknown document that was referred to and not provided. 
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Therefore, if we overlook all the evidentiary deficiencies previously addressed, then all 

that Petitioner will have proven is simply the right to collect an alleged debt. Nothing more is 

referred to in the bill of sale and therefore Petitioner cannot prove that it even purchase the right 

to collect Respondent's debt, much less ancillary rights thereto such as the right to compel 

arbitration. Synchrony did not sell "all of its rights" or indeed any right other than the right to 

payment. This is key because the assignment clause Petitioner relies so heavily upon states: "We 

[Synchrony Bank] may sell, assign or transfer any or all of our rights or duties under this 

Agreement or your account, including our rights to payments ... " App. at 376. The assignment 

provision makes clear that Synchrony can pick and choose what rights it sells to third-parties. 

Petitioner has only provided a bill of sale which refers to "receivables." Petitioner has therefore 

failed to prove that it purchased from Synchrony anything more than the "rights to payments" 

referred to in the cardholder agreement, which is fatal to its request to force arbitration. 

B. 	 The Circuit Court did not Commit Reversible Error in Ruling that Petitioner 
Waived any Right It May Have had to Arbitrate 

Petitioner waived any possible right to arbitrate"for two primary reasons. First, Petitioner 

is a debt purchasing entity that exists solely for the purpose of filing hundreds of lawsuits in 

West Virginia tax payer funded courts. Second, Petitioner initiated this lawsuit against :Mr. 

" Stacy and litigated it for eight (8) months prior to filing its motion to compel arbitration. 

Other States have already addressed the following question presently before this Court: 

Does a debt purchasing entity, which exists solely for the purpose of repeatedly suing consumers 

in the public court system, waive any potential rights to arbitrate? In Principal Investments, Inc. 

v, Harrison, 2016 WL 166011 (Nev. 2016), the Nevada Supreme Court ruled that a commercial 

creditor which sued hundreds of individual consumers in the" court system waived any right to 

arbitrate later claims arising in consumer protection law for its conduct ofhaving sued those very 
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individual consumers. The Nevada Supreme Court reasoned that because the debt collector had 

initiated hundreds of collection actions, it would be unfair to the borrowers to require arbitration 

of the claims seeking to set aside the judgments due to the company's alleged misconduct. !d. at 

697-98. Essentially, the Nevada Supreme Court held that, if a creditor uses the court system of a 

State to repeatedly collect debts, it cannot then compel arbitration simply because those whom it 

sued fight back in a consumer class action. 

In a similar case, Nelson v. Liberty Acquisitions Servicing LLC, 374 P.3d 27 (Utah Ct. 

App. 2016), Utah's intermediate appellate court found that a debt buyer had waived its right to 

arbitrate claims challenging its debt collection practices by repeatedly pursuing collection actions 

in court, like Petitioner has done in this case. 15 Id. at 30. Even more recently, in March of 

2017, a Maryland Appellate Court addressed the issue of wavier regarding debt purchasers like 

the Petitioner in this case and ruled "[b]ecause Midland's 2009 collection action is related to 

Cain's claims, Midland waived its right to arbitrate the current claims when it chose to litigate 

the collection action." Cain v. Midland Funding, LLC, 452 Md. 141, 163, 156 A.3d 807, 820 

(2017). Each of these decisions specifically addresses the same question of waiver before this 

Court by finding that a debt purchasing entity, which exists for primary purpose of repeatedly 

suing consumers in the public court system, waives any potential rights to arbitrate. There is no 

reason this Court should allow a debt purchaser to repeatedly take advantage of public tax: payer 

supported courts and eliminate those same civil justice rights for West Virginia tax payers. 

The second basis for a finding of waiver in this matter is Petitioner's specific conduct in 

bringing this lawsuit, litigating for more than eight months, participating in class discovery, 

failing to bring any affirmative defense based on arbitration, and delaying more than eight 

months before ever filing its motion to compel arbitration. Such conduct absolutely constitutes 
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"the doing of something inconsistent with the right" to arbitrate. Beall v. Morgantown & 

Kingwood R. Co., 118 W.Va. 289, 190 S.E. 333, 336 (1937). The issue of whether or not 

Petitioner engaged in conduct inconsistent with any potential right to arbitrate is clear as 

demonstrated by Petitioner's decision to sue Mr. Stacy, Answer his counterclaim, participate in 

discovery, and litigate a class action lawsuit for over eight (8) months. Here, Petitioner clearly 

did waive its right to enforce any alleged contractual arbitration agreement. 

Petitioner voluntarily chose Wyoming County as its preferred forum., actively attempted 

to extract monies from the consumer, participated in class action discovery, filed briefs arguing 

its various positions, issued discovery to Respondent, hired three law firms, and wasted public 

judicial resources for nearly a year. The repeated and voluntarily actions of Atlantic 

unequivocally constitute waiver because, according to the WVSCA, "[v]oluntary choice is of the 

very essence of waiver." See Hoffman v. Wheeling Sav. & LoanAss'n, 133 W.Va 694, 713 57 

S.E.2d 725, 735 (1950)(emphasis added). Aside from Petitioner's inconsistent conduct, its delay 

in attempting to enforce the alleged arbitration agreement also constitutes waiver. In order to 

safeguard a right to arbitration, a party. must "do all it could reasonably have been expected to 

do to make the earliest feasible determination of whether to proceed judi~ially or by 

arbitration." Cabinetree ofWisc., Inc. v. KraftmaidCabinetry, Inc., 50 F.3d 388,391 (7th Cir. 

1995)(emphasis added). Here, Petitioner could not be bothered to even assert arbitration in its 

Answer to Stacy's Counterclaim. The waste of public judicial resources in this case strongly 

supports a :finding of waiver because the Petitioner unnecessarily delayed in moving to compel 

arbitration. Certainly, litigants should have clear wavier rules from the WVSCA that encourage 

the preservation and best-use of very limited public resources. 

Page 300/40 



In Barden & Robeson, this Court held that the defendant waived its right to arbitration by 

standing silent for a period of less than two months. State ex reI. Barden & Robeson Corp. v. 

Hill, 208 W.Va. 163, 168, 539 S.E.2d 106, 111 (2000) (citing Earl T. Browder, Inc. v. Cnty. 

Court of Webster Cnty., 143 W.Va. 406, 412, 102 S.E.2d 425, 430 (1958) (holding that 

defendant's neglect or refusal to arbitrate dispute constituted waiver of right to require 

arbitration). In that case, a chur~h and a builder entered into a contract to construct an addition. 

539 S.E.2d at 108. The contract provided that the parties would arbitrate disputes arising out of 

the contract. ld. After the work was completed, the church asserted that certain aspects of the 

construction did not meet contract specifications, and filed a suit in circuit court on April 7, 

1999. ld. The defendant failed to respond in any way, and on Jun~ 1, 1999 - less than two 

months later - the church obtained a default judgment. ld. The defendant later asserted a 

contractual right to arbitrate. ld. When the circuit court refused to set aside the judgment, the 

defendant sought a writ. ld at 109. The WVSCA denied the writ, holding that as a result of the 

two-month delay and default alone, the defendant had. "waived its right to assert arbitration as an 

affirmative defense" - despite the fact that the defendant had not actively participated in the 

litigation as is the case in the matter at hand. ld. at 111. Petitioner filed an Answer in this 

matter and did not even mention a defense involving arbitration. App. 33-44. 

Petitioner's litigation conduct and choice to sue constitutes a waiver of any purported 

right to arbitrate. An arbitration agreement is no different than any other contract, and is subj ect 

to normal contract rules. While this principle is frequently invoked to support the enforcement of 

an agreement to arbitrate, it also means that, as with any other contract right, a party can waive 

its right to arbitrate by acting inconsistently with that right. See State ex ref. Barden & Robeson 

Corp. v. Hill, 208 W.Va. 163, 168, 539 S.E.2d 106, 111 (2000). Numerous courts across the 

Page 310/40 



country have analyzed waiver principles in the context of filing a lawsuit and then later seeking 

to compel arbitration. These courts determined that filing a lawsuit supports that a party waived 

any right it ever held to invoke arbitration. Erdman Co. V. Phoenix Land & Acquisition, L.L. c., 

650 F. 3d 1115 (8th Cir. 2011) (waiver when party initiated lawsuit); Louisiana Stadium & 

Exposition Dist. v. Merrill Lynch, Piece, Fenner & Smith, Inc., 626 F.3d 156, 160 (2d Cir. 2010) 

("[B]y filing its lawsuit and litigating it at length, LSED acted inconsistently with its contractuaJ. 

n'gh b"");...t to ar Itration. 6 

6 Nicholas v. KBR. Inc., 565 F.3d 904,908 (5th Cir. 2009) ("[T]he decision to fIle suit typically indicates a 
'disinclination' to arbitrate ... [T]he act of plaintiff filing suit without asserting an arbitration clause 
constitutes substantial invocation of the judicial process ... "); United Computer Sys., Inc. v. AT&T Corp., 
298 F.3d 756 (9th Cir. 2002) (filing a state court compliant was inconsistent with right to arbitrate); 
Kenyon Int'l Emergency Services, Inc. v. Malcom, 2010 WL 2303328(S.D. Tex. June 7, 2010)(waiver 
when party filed suit twice, opposed then equivocated about arbitration, then withdrew from arbitration 
when compelled); Bolo Corp. v. Homes & Son Constr. Co., 464 P.2d 788, 790 (Ariz. 1970) (party had 
waived by its conduct the right to arbitrate by filing a lawsuit in which it requested the same kind of relief 
if could have gained from arbitration); Blackburn v. Citifinancial, Inc., 2007 WL 927222 (Ohio Ct. App. 
Mar. 12, 2007)(''by actively pursuing litigation in lieu of arbitration by filing a complaint to enforce its 
contractual ~ghts under the note, Citifmancial has waived its own arbitration clause"); Chec'ksmart v. 
Morgan, 2003 WL 125130, at *4 (Ohio Ct. App. Jan 16 2003) (''We are guided by Mills v. Jaguar
Cleveland Motors, Inc.], wherein the institution of a lawsuit was an action inconsistent with the party's 
right to arbitrate"); Otis Hous. Ass 'n, Inc. v. Ha, 201 P.3d 309,312 (Wash. 2009); Grant & Associates v. 
Gonzales, 135 Wash App. 1019 (2006) ("There is no clearer manifestation of an intent to use the judicial 
process than filing a lawsuit."); Kenyon Int'l Emergency Medical Service, Inc. v. Malcom citation; aff'd, 
421 Fed. Appx 413 (5th Cir. 2011); Barbagallo v. Niagra Credit Solutions, Inc., 2012 WL 6478956, at *3 
(D. Md. Dec. 4, 2012) (creditor'S filing of collection suit contributed to conclusion that creditor waived 
arbitration of debtor's subsequent unfair debt collections suit); Pearson v. People's Nat'l Bank, 116 So. 
3d 1283, 1284-1285 (pIa. Dist. Ct. App. 2013) ("Initiating a la,wsuit... constitutes an affirmative selection 
of a course of action which runs counter to the purpose of arbitration..." (internal quotations omitted)); 
Levonas v. Regency Heritage Nursing & Rehab. Ctr., L.L.C., 2013 WL 4554509 (N.J. Super. Ct. Appt. 
Div. Aug. 29, 2013) (nursing home's filing of suit on its arbitrable collection claims contributed to 
conclusion that nursing home waived arbitration of wrongful death suit subsequently filed against it); Am. 
Gen. Fin. v. Griffin, 2013 WL 3422900, at *7 (Ohio Ct. App. July 3,2014) (lender's filing of suit on its 
arbitrable . collection claims contributed to conclusion that lender waived arbitration of class 
counterclaims); Liberty Credit Services v. Yonker, 2013 WL 5221219, at *5(Ohio Ct. App. Sept. 16, 
2013)(Party seeking arbitration initially filed suit supported waiver ruling); Finish Line, Inc. v. Patrone, 
No. 2013-0hio-5527 (Ohio Ct. -App. Dec. 13,2013) (finding waiver when Plaintiff filed suit in court and 
only moved to compel arbitration after responding to Defendant's counterclaim); Green Tree Servicing, 
L.L.c., v. Hill, 307 P.3d 347 (Okla. Civ. App. 2013) (by suing and obtaining judgment on note, creditor 
waiver arbitration of later-filed claims and counterclaims relating to the note); House Dev., Inc. v. 
Integrus Architecture, P.S., 272 P3d 289(Wash. Ct. App. 2012)(finding waiver when plaintiff file suit in 
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Petitioner improperly relies upon this Court's decision in Citibank v. Perry to suggest that 

it did not waive its right to seek arbitration. Citibank, NA. v. Perry, 238 W. Va. 662, 797 S.E.2d 

803 (2016). This matter is distinguishable from Perry in that Petitioner is not the original 

creditor and does not even have an agreement with Respondent. More importantly, the Petitioner 

here, unlike in Perry, litigated extensively for eight months after being sued, whereas Citibank 

moved to compel arbitration immediately upon receiving a class action counterclaim. 

Furthermore, Citibank's arbitration clause specifically contained a provision not present in this 

matter that allowed Citibank to compel arbitration at any time prior to a trial or judgment entry. 

The primary difference is that Citibank only took action in the state court case after it moved for 

arbitration, whereas the Petitioner here delayed for eight months and participated extensively in 

discovery and motions practice before attempting to invoke arbitration. 

When a party elects to use the courts to redeem claims, thus waiving their right to 

arbitrate, and the defendant files an answer failing to even mention arbitration, as has happened 

here, then all parties have waived arbitration. Here, it is clear that Petitioner knew there was 

some risk it was waiving arbitration when it filed this case in Wyoming County and participated 

in a class action for eight J;Ilonths. Importantly, even after being faced with a class action

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